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Dear 

Thank you for your information request, which we received on 29 April 2024. You 
asked: 

“In relation to the Covid vaccines' Post Authorisation Safety Studies, please 
can you send me a copy of :
- Moderna's P904 eu PASS Final Report (which was due to be published by 
31 Dec 23)
- Pfizer's C4591021 Interim Study Report 5 (which was due to be published by 
31 Mar 24)”

We have dealt with your request under the Freedom of Information Act 2000 (FOIA). 

1) Moderna P904 EU PASS Final Report

After a search of our paper and electronic records in relevant and appropriate 
locations we have not been able to locate the information to address your request.  
In this instance the provision of the final report by the company has been delayed.  
The due date for the final report is now 30 September 2024 as shown in the EU Risk 
Management Plan version 8.2.  Therefore, under Section 1(1) (a) of the FOIA we 
confirm that the information is not held.

2) Pfizer C4591021 Interim Study Report 5

We hold this information but consider that it is exempt under section 22(1) of the 
FOIA, as the information is intended for future publication. 

In order to apply the exemption under Section 22(1), the FOIA states that the 
following points must be met:

https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/documents/rmp-summary/spikevax-previously-covid-19-vaccine-moderna-epar-risk-management-plan_en.pdf
https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/documents/rmp-summary/spikevax-previously-covid-19-vaccine-moderna-epar-risk-management-plan_en.pdf


Section 22

(1) Information is exempt information if-

(a) the information is held by the public authority with a view to its publication, by the 
authority or any other person, at some future date (whether determined or not),

(b) the information was already held with a view to such publication at the time when 
the request for information was made, and

(c) it is reasonable in all the circumstances that the information should be withheld 
from disclosure until the date referred to in paragraph (a).

We are satisfied all three parts of this exemption are met in this case. The 
information you asked for will be published in the fourth quarter of 2024 and the 
intent to publish predates your request for information.

Part (c) requires consideration of whether it is reasonable in all circumstances that 
the information is withheld from disclosure until the date of publication. When doing 
so, a public authority should consider whether or not it is sensible, in line with 
accepted practices and fair to all concerned.

In this case, we consider it this is reasonable because release of interim study 
results, prior to analysis and presentation in the final study report, may lead to 
misleading interpretations of the study findings. 

Section 22 is a qualified exemption and therefore a public interest test must also be 
applied. This means that even if it is reasonable to withhold the information under 
section 22, the public interest in disclosure must be considered to determine if this 
outweighs the public interest in maintaining the exemption.

We have considered the public interest in disclosure or maintaining the exemption in 
this case. A factor in favour of disclosure is the general principle in transparency, to 
provide for earlier release of this particular information. We also understand there is 
a public interest in making the information available for public scrutiny.

We therefore consider that section 22(1) applies to the requested information at this 
time.  If you are dissatisfied with the handling of your request, you have the right to 
ask for an internal review. Internal review requests should be submitted within two 
months of the date of this response; and can be addressed to this email address. 

Yours sincerely, 

FOI Team 
Safety and Surveillance 



Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency 

The MHRA information supplied in response to your request is subject to Crown 
copyright. The FOIA only entitles you to access to MHRA information. 

For information on the reproduction or re-use of MHRA information, please visit 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/reproduce-or-re-use-mhra-
information/reproduce-or-re-use-mhra-information   

If you have a query about this email, please contact us. If you are unhappy with our 
decision, you may ask for it to be reviewed. That review will be undertaken by a 
senior member of the Agency who has not previously been involved in your request. 
If you wish to pursue that option please write to:

The Communications Directorate, 4-T, Medicines and Healthcare products 
Regulatory Agency (via this email address)

After that, if you remain dissatisfied, you may ask the Information Commissioner at:

The Information Commissioner’s Office 
Wycliffe House 
Water Lane 
Wilmslow 
Cheshire 
SK9 5AF 

Copyright notice 

The information supplied in response to your request is the copyright of MHRA 
and/or a third party or parties and has been supplied for your personal use only. You 
may not sell, resell or otherwise use any information provided without prior 
agreement from the copyright holder.

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/reproduce-or-re-use-mhra-information/reproduce-or-re-use-mhra-information
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/reproduce-or-re-use-mhra-information/reproduce-or-re-use-mhra-information



